1996

William Turner, and John Does 1-120 a class
composed of landowners located in the Hi
Country Estates Subdivision v. Salt Lake County
Water Conservancy District, a utah corporation
and special service district : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Plaintiffs / Appellants consist of William Turner and a class consisting of property owners located in the Hi Country Estates Subdivision, the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable, the questions of law or fact are common to the whole class, that the claims of the representative party are typical of the claims of the class, and that the representative party will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class. (See Record page 000001 paragraph 1)

2. The Defendant / Appellee is a quasi governmental body formed pursuant to 73-9-29 Utah Code Annotated which has now been changed to 17A-1401 et al whose responsibility is to furnish water to and benefit the land which is annexed. See Record page 000002 paragraph 2.

3. The Plaintiff /Appellants land was annexed to the Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District through an Order of the Third District Court on April 3, 1973. See Record page 000002 paragraph 2 and exhibit "A" page 000007.

4. The Third District Court in its Order instructed that "all of said lands will be benefited from inclusion in the District". See Record page 000008.

5. The Plaintiff / Appellants land according to the Court Order are the lands to be benefited by inclusion in the Defendant/Appellant Water Conservancy District. See Record page 000002 paragraph 4.

6. The Plaintiff / Appellant's land has not received any benefit from inclusion in the District Water Conservancy District and has found it necessary to provide its own water

and water delivery system. See Record page 000002 paragraph 6.

7. The failure of the Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District to furnish services is contrary to the 1973 Court Order and to the intent of the Legislature. See Record page 000002 paragraph 6.

8. The Plaintiff/Appellant has not received any benefits for the funds assessed and collected by the Defendant/Appellee and has paid additional funds to establish a water delivery system and water source independent of the Defendant/Appellee. See Record page 000003 paragraph 7, 8, 9 and 12.

9. The Plaintiff/Appellant requested that the Defendant/Appellee be held in contempt of the 1973 Court Order, that the funds assessed be returned to the Plaintiff/Appellant, that punitive damages be assessed against the Defendant/Appellee for its failure to fulfill the 1973 Court Order and that the Conservancy District be ordered to reimburse the property owners for the amounts expended to furnish their own water system. See Record page 000004 paragraphs 14, 15, 16, and 17.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from the Order and Judgment of Judge Leslie A. Lewis, Third Judicial District court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Rule 3, and Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and UCA Rule 78-2-2 and is given by assignment from the Utah Supreme Court to the Utah Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

POINT I DOES SECTION 63-30-22 BAR CLAIMS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES AGAINST THE DEFENDANT/APPELLEE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT

POINT II WAS THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT ENTITLED TO A DISMISSAL OF PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT CONTEMPT OF COURT CLAIM?

- A. WAS THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT IN CONTEMPT OF THE ANNEXATION ORDER?**
- B. WAS PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S CONTEMPT OF COURT CLAIM BARRED BY UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 17A-2-1437(3)(i)?**
- C. WAS PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT CONTEMPT OF COURT CLAIM BARRED BY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL?**
- D. WAS PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT CLAIM THAT THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT WAS IN CONTEMPT OF THE 1973 ANNEXATION ORDER TIMELY?**

POINT III IS THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS DISMISSING PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR AN EQUITABLE REFUND OF ASSESSMENT.

- A. DOES UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 17A-2-1437(3)(i) AND COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL BAR PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR A REFUND OF ASSESSMENT?**
- B. HAVE PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT FAILED TO PLEAD AN EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR A REUND OF ASSESSMENT?**
 - 1. DOES PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT HAVE TO PLEAD THAT THE PROPERTY ASSESSED BY THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT IS ILLEGAL?**
 - 2. DOES PLAINTIFF/APPLELLANT HAVE TO PLEAD THAT HE PAID THE ASSESSMENT UNDER PROTEST?**
- C. IS PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR A REFUND OF ASSESSMENT BARRED BY UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 78-12-25(3)?**

- D. IS PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT CLAIM FOR EQUITABLE ASSESSMENT REFUND BARRED BY UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 78-12-31?**
- E. IS PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR AN ASSESSMENT REFUND BARRED BY HIS FAILURE TO PURSUE AVAILABLE AND ADEQUATE LEGAL REMEDIES?**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judgment on the Pleadings may be granted only in those matters where it is clear from the record that there exists no genuine issues as to material facts. The trial court is to assume that the facts as stated in the complaint of the non moving party are true and must therefore conclude that the non moving party could no prevail as a matter of law.

No deference is to be accorded to the trial court's legal conclusions based on those facts.

PRESERVATION OF ISSUES

The issues before the Court were preserved for appeal in the trial court in Plaintiff/Appellants Complaint, Reply Memorandum, and in its argument before the trial court. See Record pages 000001 -000008, pages 000048 - 000063, and pages 000110 - 000136.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff/Appellant claim that they should receive services where they are being assessed by the Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District. The Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District states that it is not obligated to furnish any services for the assessments which it receives for those properties which are annexed to it. That if it is benefiting the whole District by what it is doing that is sufficient.

The Plaintiff/Appellant claims that the Statute of Limitations does not apply in the

assessment both because the annexation statute takes the matter outside of the statute of limitations and the statute if it does apply, does not start to run until the District had sufficient time to perform. That time to perform is now at hand.

The last issue is that the Plaintiff/Appellant did not protest the payment of the assessment. The Plaintiff/Appellant argues that it did not have to protest the assessment as the Water Conservancy District was under a mandate of the 1973 Annexation Order to Benefit the land being annexed which was not done.

ARGUMENT

Point I

SECTION 63-30-22 DOES NOT BAR CLAIMS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES AGAINST THE SALT LAKE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT

The Defendant/Appellee, Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District, is not a Political subdivision as defined under the Governmental Immunity Act. A political subdivision (as defined under the Governmental Immunity Act) "means any county, city, town, school district, public transit district, or other governmental subdivision or public corporation". It should be noted that the definition is defined narrowly and does not include a Water Conservancy District even though it does include entities which are quite similar such as school district and public transit district.

Under Tygesen v. Magna Water Co. , 226 P.2d 127 (Utah 1950), the court defines a Water Conservancy District as an improvement district which is neither fish nor fowl - it being a quasi municipality which "lay the principle that they who receive the benefits should pay for them"

Even if the Water Conservancy was protected by the Governmental Act, since the

responsibilities are non governmental and are proprietary in nature, they would fall under the exceptions to the Governmental Immunity Act. (Section 63-30-3 "all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function,") That question being whether or not furnishing water is a proprietary function or a governmental function.

The Tygesen Court supports this proposition by questioning whether the County ever had a duty of furnishing water by stating that "The Improvement District Act accomplished the same thing as to the water and sewer systems by lifting from the county the necessity of furnishing water and sewer facilities, if indeed it ever had that duty, but leaving with the county its ordinary functions in the district area relating to health, policing, etc.."

In Salt Lake County, historically, water was supplied as a proprietary function by the citizens as from early days various citizens held the water rights to the various steams which came into the valley and the water was not supplied as a governmental function. Under Kirk v. State 784 P. 2d 1255 1989 (Ct. of Appeals), four factors were to be considered to determine whether an activity is proprietary or governmental: 1. whether the activity is something that is done for the general public good, 2. whether it is generally regarded as a public responsibility; 3. whether there is any special pecuniary benefit to the city; and 4. whether it is in competition with free enterprise. Water Conservancy Districts are in competition with private enterprises such as water companies which are everywhere in the Salt Lake County area.

Obviously then, the Defendant/Appellee is competing with private enterprise as to

furnishing water. It has generally been the responsibility of the private sector to furnish water to landowners, which places the actions of the Defendant/Appellee as a proprietary function which waives its governmental immunity. There are numerous Utah cases which define quasi municipalities as different from city or county governments.

In McQuilllin Mun. Corp. (3rd Ed.) Sec. 2.07a; we find the following definition:

"A quasi-municipal corporation is a public agency created or authorized by the legislature to aid the state in, or to take charge of, some public or state work, other than community government, for the general welfare. 'Quasi municipal' corporations are public in nature, but not strictly speaking, municipal corporations. They are bodies which possess a limited number of corporate powers and which are low down in the scale or grade of corporate existence, and consist of various local government areas established to aid the administration of public functions" Id., Sec 2.13

Therefore, Plaintiff is not precluded from its punitive damage action in this matter as the Defendant District is not the same type of governmental agency as contemplated for governmental immunity.

Point II

THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A DISMISSAL OF PLAINTIFF'S CONTEMPT OF COURT CLAIM

A. THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT IS IN CONTEMPT OF THE ANNEXATION ORDER

The Court is very clear in its Order of April 3, 1973. The Court states, not as a finding, but as an Order that:

**IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all of said lands will be benefited
from inclusion in the District;"**

The Court in its' order does not make a specific finding that the lands will be benefited but it Orders that the lands will be benefited (a specific duty is given to the Water Conservancy District). The Amended Order of April 3, 1974, reads exactly as the Order of April 3, 1973 except for a description correction. The lands will be benefited from inclusion in the District.

The Court Order is not designated as a finding of fact but is a direct Order of the Court bearing all the authority and majesty of the Court. To not follow that Order is Contempt of Court.

The Water Conservancy District is given great power but the power does not come directly from the vote of the citizens. That is why the Court maintains jurisdiction in order to be sure that the power given is not abused as has happened in the case at hand.

Historically the Board of Directors of the Water Conservancy Districts were appointed by the Court. The Supreme Court found that this was a mis-use of Judicial power and declared it unconstitutional. The legislature then amended the law and directed that the County appoint the Directors but still maintained that the Court had continuing jurisdiction.

The Water Conservancy District was formed by the Legislature to do what the individual could not do by himself and for which to tax the whole county for special areas would be unequitable. There is no other way that the Plaintiff/Appellant's lands can be benefited by the Water District (Defendant/Appellee) but to be furnished water. That has not been done, and is not being presently done. Therefore, the Defendant/Appellee is in Contempt of the 1973 Court Order to Benefit the land.

**B. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S CONTEMPT OF COURT CLAIM IS NOT
BARRED BY UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 17A-2-1437(3)(i)**

Section 17A-2-1437(3)(i) does not bar the Contempt or punitive damages. That section only goes to the determination of the facts by the court which allow it to Order an Annexation of land to the Water Conservancy District. That is not in question here. The Court made its findings and upon those findings Ordered that "all of said lands will be benefited". There is no fancy footwork that the Defendant/Appellee can do that lessens that Order.

**C. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT' CONTEMPT OF COURT CLAIM IS NOT
BARRED BY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL**

Plaintiff/Appellant's complaint does not come from the fact that the Court had to find that a benefit was possible at the time the Annexation was approved. The only problem is that the Defendant/Appellee never put forth the necessary effort to promulgate that benefit. Instead it assessed the Plaintiff/Appellant while Plaintiff/Appellant furnished their own water system and drilled their own well.

When asked to help repair the water system which the Plaintiff/Appellant installed, the Defendant/Appellee had the tenacity to charge for what ever help was expended even though it was receiving assessment dollars for which it gave no pro quid quo.

The Judge Tayor Court realizing the temptation to the Water Conservancy District in the particular situation, specifically Ordered the Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District to benefit the lands annexed. The Defendant/Appellee has in no way alleged any benefit which it has given to the Plaintiff/Appellant's land.

Collateral Estoppel is not at issue here. Failure to follow the Courts specific Order is

at issue. The Defendant/Appellee was to benefit the lands annexed. It has not done that since 1973. It is certainly by now in contempt of the 1973 Court Order.

**D. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT CLAIM THAT THE WATER
CONSERVANCY DISTRICT IS IN CONTEMPT OF THE 1973
ANNEXATION ORDER IS TIMELY**

Plaintiffs twenty-two year delay in filing this action for contempt of the Court Order does not foreclose their contempt claim. The Order of the Court is a continuing Order. It is not for a specific period of time, but is for all that period of time from when the land is annexed to the District. Under Section 17A-2-1406 "The district court in and for the county in which the petition for the organization of a water conservancy district has been filed, shall thereafter for all purposes of this part, except as hereinafter otherwise provided, maintain and have original and exclusive jurisdiction, xxx....xxx, without regard to the usual limits of its jurisdiction."

Considering the complex nature of furnishing water, the great cost, and the large amount of time necessary to construct such a system, the 22 year period is not unreasonable. Plaintiffs patience is to be applauded not condemned. It becomes judgmental as to when the contempt arises. Certainly not within the first year, but certainly by the twenty second year.

As stated in *American Tierra Corp. v City of West Jordan*, 840 P.2d 757 (Utah 1992), to determine if the statute of limitation has run, you must first determine when the period began to run. "The correct view, however, is that the limitation period begins to run as of the date on which the action could have been maintained to a successful conclusion." A right of action accrues when a wrong has been incurred that gives a right to bring and

sustain a suit. In the instance before us, the period starts when this court determines that the Defendant District had adequate time to promulgate a benefit to the lands as ordered. Certainly after 22 years that period of time has started.

Therefore, Plaintiffs action should not be dismissed due to the time between the 1973 Order and the bringing of this action.

Point III

THE WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADING DISMISSING PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR AN EQUITABLE REFUND OF ASSESSMENT

A. UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 17A-2-1437(3)(i) AND COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL DO NOT BAR PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANT'S EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR A REFUND OF ASSESSMENT.

Contrary to Defendant/Appellee's allegations, the land of the Plaintiff/Appellant has not been benefited by its annexation to the Water Conservancy District. That is the reason for the lawsuit. Since the funds given to the Water Conservancy District have not been used to benefit the lands and their owners to date, logically they should be returned with interest. If the Defendant/Appellee District decides to do something in the future, then those future funds collected through the taxation power of the county, may be used to benefit the land in the future.

The 1973 Court did not dispose of the issue before us. While it is true that for the court to annex the land to the Water District, it had to find a benefit to the land owners, that determination has nothing to do with the specific and clear order of the Court that the Water Conservancy District which Order by the Court stated "THAT all of said lands will be benefited from inclusion in the District".

The Defendant/Appellee alleges that Plaintiff/Appellant must prove that the land has not been and will not be benefited by the annexation to the District. That certainly is a question of fact which must be ruled upon by a trier of fact which is the issue before the Court. It is hard to imagine any benefit having been received at present, since the Defendant/Appellee has not furnished any water to the Plaintiff/Appellant in over 22 years. Furthermore, there are no plans to furnish water in the near future by the Defendant/Appellee District, and finally, the system which the Plaintiff/Appellant have installed is furnishing water sufficiently abundant for the contemplated future needs.

The 1973 Court Order and Utah Code Ann. Section 17A-2-1437(3)(i) have not resolved the issue and do not by collateral estoppel bar Plaintiff/Appellant equitable claim as the law allows for the annexation to be established upon a potential benefit and the court had to find a potential benefit to the owner of the land.

The Supreme Court said in American Tierra Corp. Case that "This court long has recognized a common law exception to governmental immunity for equitable claims." and then states "Furthermore, this court already has recognized that an action to recover unlawful charges for city services is equitable in nature. See El Rancho, 565 P.2d at 779-80"

This is not in question. The 1973 Court in this instance went further in that it Ordered that the owners of the land benefit from the Annexation. To date this has not happened.

**B. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT HAVE NOT FAILED TO PLEAD AN
EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR A REFUND OF ASSESSMENT**

1. Plaintiff does not have to plead that the assessment levied by the Water Conservancy District are illegal

Plaintiff/Appellant do not deny that the claims for the refund of funds levied by the Defendant/Appellee and collected as a tax, is an equitable claim. The Plaintiff/Appellee has requested that those funds be returned as the Defendant/Appellee District has failed to comply with a direct court order and therefore has no legal right to those funds. The collection of the funds is in contemplation of rendering a benefit to the lands annexed. That benefit has never been received. Logically then, those funds were illegally collected. Breaking of a Court Order is an illegal act. Plaintiff does not have to specifically allege an illegal act to maintain its position in this case on this matter.

Equity demands that where a party is being taken advantage of by another party who is contemptuously disobeying the law, that the party injured should be compensated for that act. The Water Conservancy District Defendant/Appellee has for the last 22 years taken funds from the Plaintiff/Appellant and has failed to fulfill that Court Order which gives it the authority to collect the funds. The Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District has not benefited the lands as ordered under that Court Order which authorized and gave life to the Annexation and all powers derived thereunder.

2. Plaintiff/Appellant does not have to plead that he paid his assessment under protest

Plaintiff/Appellant are not barred from this matter because they failed to pay their assessment under protest. The Water Conservancy District is not the taxing entity. The County is the taxing entity. The Water Conservancy District simply establishes the amount of assessment it desires to be levied and the County becomes the entity which collects the

assessment as a tax.

The issues before the Court is whether or not the lands have been benefited by the Defendant/Appellee District as directed by the District Court under the Honorable Judge Taylor and if they have not as alleged by the Plaintiff/Appellant what the District Defendant/Appellee should do to benefit the lands.

- 1. Should the monies assessed and collected by the taxing entity and paid to the Defendant/Appellee, be returned to the owners of the lands?**
- 2. Should the Defendant/Appellee be Ordered by the Court to immediately present a plan to the Court as to how they will benefit the land owners in the future?**
- 3. Should the Defendant/Appellee be Ordered to purchase the water system now furnishing water to the lands which are the subject of this lawsuit and to take over the operation of that system?**

The tax protest as contemplated under Section 59-2-1327 does not pertain to the matter before us at this time. That pertains to the taxing entity which actually does the collection. This problem is not between the Plaintiff/Appellant and the County who is the Tax Collector. This problem is between the Plaintiff/Appellant and the Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District. An entity which is quasi governmental. It only has those certain governmental powers as given to it by the Legislature.

The Water Conservancy District is basically a private business which is given some governmental authority in order to facilitate the objectives of the conservation and delivery of water to the various lands in Salt Lake County. It is kept under close supervision of the District Court by continuing jurisdiction to insure that it does not abuse its authority and

gains its rights over property by a court authorized annexation. When the Court authorized the annexation in this particular instance, it Ordered that the lands Benefit from the annexation. This has not happened. The lands have not benefited from the annexation but have had to furnish or obtain their water from sources other than the Defendant/Appellee District because the Defendant/Appellee Water Conservancy District has refused to furnish that water.

The date wherein the Statute of Limitations begins to run must be determined by the Court. At what point was the Defendant/Appellee placed into contempt? At the time the Court determines that fact, then the time of the Statute of Limitation which ever one is used starts to run unless that Statute of Limitation has been waived as argued earlier by the enabling legislation.

C. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT EQUITABLE CLAIM FOR A REFUND OF ASSESSMENT IS NOT BARRED BY UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 78-12-25(3)

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