1996

William Turner, and John Does 1-120, a class  
composed of landowners located in the Hi-  
Country Estates Subdivision v. Salt Lake County  
Water Conservancy District, a Utah corporation  
and Special Service District : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Turner seeks punitive damages. The District is a political subdivision of the State of Utah, however, and as such it is granted immunity from punitive damages by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

The 1973 Annexation Order does not obligate the District to extend its water delivery system to Turner's property. Turner has no standing to pursue a refund of property taxes, because he failed to exhaust administrative remedies, and in any event, his claim is

time-barred and brought against the wrong party. If truly dissatisfied, Turner could have requested the District to de-annex his property.

Turner's claims on appeal are utterly without merit, so much so that the Court should award the District its costs and fees spent in defending against the appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I. A Water Conservancy District Is Immune From Punitive Damages By Virtue Of The Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

The District is a water conservancy district which was organized and operates under the Utah Water Conservancy Act (Utah Code Ann. §§ 17A-2-1401 et seq. (Supp. 1996)). As such, the District specifically is described by the Act as " . . . a political subdivision of the State of Utah and a body corporate with all the powers of a public or municipal corporation." See Utah Code Ann. § 17A-2-1407(7)(b)(1953). The Utah Supreme Court has reached the same conclusion. See Patterick v. Carbon Water Conservancy District, 106 Utah 55, 145 P.2d 503, 511, 512 (1944) ("The water district . . . is an agency of the state . . . . A water conservancy district is an arm of the government . . . ."); Timpanagos Planning and Water Management Agency v. Central Utah Water Conservancy District, 690 P.2d 562 (Utah 1984) (where, to resolve a separation of powers issue, the Court considered a water conservancy district to be part of the executive branch of Utah state government).

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act specifically provides that "No judgment may be rendered against the governmental entity for exemplary or punitive damages." See Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-22(1)(a) (1953). A "governmental entity" is equated by the Act to a "political subdivision," which in turn is defined as:

. . . any county, city, town, school district, public transit district, redevelopment agency, special improvement or taxing district, or other governmental subdivision or public corporation.

See Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-2(3) and (7) (Supp. 1996).

The District is a governmental entity. The Utah Governmental Immunity Act grants it immunity from punitive damages. Turner has no claim against it.

## II. The District Established Its Right To Judgment On The Pleadings.

### Introduction

More than twenty years ago, landowners in the Hi-Country Estates subdivision petitioned the Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District to annex their lands into the District. Their petition was granted. A portion of the 1973 Annexation Order reads: "IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all of said lands will be benefitted from inclusion in the District." Turner's entire case rests on his allegation that, by virtue only of the language of the Order quoted above, the District became obligated to construct a water supply system, extend it to his property and deliver water to him, and failing that, to refund the property taxes he paid to Salt Lake County.

Turner completely ignores the more explicit terms of the petition for annexation and the fundamental nature of any annexation proceeding. Furthermore, he has waived his right to seek reimbursement of previously paid taxes, and he lacks standing to litigate any tax issues for failure to exhaust available administrative remedies.

A. The District Has No Obligation To Extend Its Waterworks To The Subdivision.

1. The Petition For Annexation Acknowledged The Limitation Of The District's Annexation.

Turner now knows the District was under no obligation to do what he alleges. In the District's answer to the complaint (R.21-22, Fifteenth Defense), the relevant language of the annexation petition for Hi-Country Estates is quoted:

[P]etitioners recognize and acknowledge that by annexing to the District, the District has made no commitment and under its present rules and regulations probably will not make any commitment to expend District funds to extend its pipeline system and appurtenant facilities from their present location as necessary to render water service to these petitioners.

Petitioners' land is some distance from the District's existing facilities and is at such an elevation that water from the District's facilities will not flow to petitioners' land by gravity. Petitioners acknowledge that they have been advised by the District that its policy requires subdividers to pay the capital cost of extending the District's system and that such capital cost generally is not reimbursable. The benefit that petitioners will receive from being annexed to the District is that there will be an adequate water supply which will serve the needs of the lands to be annexed, after the facilities for delivering the water have been installed, and it is the benefit of

having the water supply, which the petitioners seek through annexation.

The court order annexing the subdivision property into the District was premised on the language of the petition. It acknowledged that the District

. . . has made no commitment and under its present rules and regulations probably will not make any commitment to expend District funds to extend its pipeline system, . . . .

and it also acknowledged the landowners had been

. . . advised by the District that its policy requires subdividers to pay the capital cost of extending the District's system and that such capital cost generally is not reimbursable.

Turner's allegation more than 23 years later, that "the Defendant District has failed these many years to deliver water to the land owners in the subdivision as contemplated by the Court Order" (Complaint, ¶6, R.2.), is disingenuous.

2. The Language In The Annexation Order, Upon Which Turner Bases This Suit, Is Merely The District Court's Finding As Required By Statute.

There is no court order requiring the District to construct a water delivery system to Turner's property. The 1973 Annexation Order simply granted the landowners' petition for annexation into the District. In accordance with the provisions of the Utah Water Conservancy Act, the district court in approving the annexation was required to "find that the property described in the petition will, if included, be benefitted by the accomplishment of the purposes for which the original district was formed." Utah Code Ann. § 17A-2-1437(3)(o)(ii) (Supp. 1996). The district court



made the requisite finding: "said lands will be benefitted from inclusion in the District." If Turner's tortured interpretation were true, every annexation of property into the District would carry with it an affirmative obligation to construct a water delivery system to and through the newly annexed property, since in every instance the court must find "the property . . . will, if included, be benefitted." There simply is no way the 1973 Order can be read to require the District to construct a water system to Turner's property.

B. Turner Is Not Entitled To A Refund Of Property Taxes Paid.

1. Turner No Longer Seeks Reimbursement Of Taxes Paid.

Turner has abandoned his claim for reimbursement of taxes. During the hearing before the trial court on the District's motion for judgment on the pleadings, the following conversation took place between the trial judge and Turner's counsel:

THE COURT: Counsel, I'm concerned that this request for tax abatement or tax reimbursement, however you want to categorize it, is not properly before me . . . .

MR SINE: . . . What we really want -- We really don't want the funds back, Your Honor. What we want is a water system. We want them to come in and do the water system as they're supposed to have done, and as this court ordered them to do, to benefit the subdivision.

THE COURT: All right, I understand your position.

R.127-128.

2. Turner Has No Standing In This Action To Seek Refund of Taxes.

The portion of Turner's real property taxes paid for the benefit of the District are levied and collected by Salt Lake County. See Utah Code Ann. § 17A-2-1423(3) (Supp. 1996). Turner admits that Salt Lake County is the taxing authority. Brief of Appellant, p. 22.

This Court recently has held there are only two remedies available for challenging a tax imposed by the County, and both are initially administrative.

First, Utah Code Ann. §§ 59-2-1004, -1005 (1992) provide that the taxpayer can file an administrative appeal with the County Board of Equalization. Second, Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-301 (1992) authorizes the taxpayer to pay under protest and seek to recover the tax paid in an action brought in district court. In either case, the county is on notice that the assessment and tax are being challenged and, in both cases, the taxpayer has an explicit right to appeal an unfavorable decision. In the case of the Board of Equalization, an appeal lies with the Tax Commission, see Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-1006(1) (1992), with judicial review then available. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(e)(ii) (Supp. 1993). As to refund actions brought in district court, an appeal may be filed in the Supreme Court. See id. § 78-2-2(3)(j).

Blaine Hudson Printing v. Tax Commission, 870 P.2d 291, 293 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994).

Turner neither appealed administratively to the Board of Equalization nor did he pay the taxes under protest and then bring an action to recover them. This Court's observation in Blaine Hudson Printing is directly applicable here:

Where, as in the present case, the taxpayer pays without fuss and later claims the tax was excessive and that a refund should be forthcoming, Utah law is not so accommodating.

Id. Turner's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies left him without standing to assert his challenge of the taxes he had paid, and it denied the district court of subject matter jurisdiction of the issue. Moreover, Turner utterly forgets that Salt Lake County is the taxing authority, not the District. He has no claim against the District and he failed to name Salt Lake County as a defendant. His claim for a tax refund is without foundation.

3. Turner Could Have De-Annexed His Property From The District.

If, as Turner claims, he truly was dissatisfied with the District over the past twenty years, he could have removed his property from the District boundaries. His remedy was to petition the District for exclusion. See Utah Code Ann. § 17A-2-1438 (1953). Had he done so, his obligation to pay taxes would have ceased. Turner elected to do nothing, however, and should not be heard now to complain.

C. Turner's Claims Are Barred By The Statute Of Limitations.

Turner waited more than 22 years to bring this action to seek enforcement of the 1973 Annexation Order. The statute of limitations for an action on "a judgment or decree of any court . . . of any state" must be brought within eight years of the judgment or decree. Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-22(1) (1996). Turner's

claims are barred by his failure to pursue enforcement of the trial court's order for more than two decades.

This is not a situation in which the statute of limitations was tolled until discovery. According to the allegations and legal argument consistently made by Turner in the trial court and in his appellate brief, the Order, when entered in 1973, clearly required the District to construct a water delivery system to his property. Thus, by his own argument, Turner knew at that time what was ordered of the District and he should have filed his claim within the eight-year limitation period.

Turner's argument that he knew of the District's obligation but gave the District a "reasonable time" to comply before bringing the action, is without merit. The circumstances alleged by Turner are no different than those in actions to collect on judgments. If the party in whose favor the judgment was entered fails to act either to collect on the judgment or to renew it within the eight-year limitations period, that party is precluded from acting on the judgment thereafter. See Yergensen v. Ford, 16 Utah 2d 397, 402 P.2d 696 (1965).

#### CONCLUSION

Turner's claim for punitive damages is barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. The District was not obligated by the annexation proceeding to extend its water transmission system to his property. And, his claim for a tax refund is stale, not brought against the correct party, and is barred for his failure to pursue available administrative remedies.

Turner has no claim against the District. The trial court's order should be affirmed.

REQUEST FOR COSTS AND FEES ON APPEAL

The District is entitled to its costs and attorney's fees incurred on appeal. Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure allows the Court to award the District its costs and/or fees if the Court finds this appeal to be frivolous, i.e., "one that is not grounded in fact, not warranted by existing law, or not based on a good faith argument to extend, modify or reverse existing law." Rule 33(b). The District moves the Court to find Turner's appeal to be frivolous.


The appeal is not grounded in fact. The language of the annexation petition -- despite its having been quoted in the District's answer to the complaint (R.21-22), highlighted in the District's reply memorandum in support of its motion for judgment on the pleadings (R.70-71, 76-79), and mentioned in oral argument before the trial court (R.120-121) -- remains undisputed by Turner. The petition's unambiguous language makes it impossible for Turner, on appeal, to make a good faith argument that the 1973 Annexation Order assumes a requirement on the District's part to construct the water delivery system for Turner.

The appeal is not warranted by existing law. His claim for punitive damages is barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. And, Turner has chosen the wrong forum. His claim for a refund of taxes paid to Salt Lake County first must be presented to the County and denied administratively before he has recourse to the

courts. Finally, his claims clearly are barred by the expiration of limitations.

The Court should award the District its attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending this appeal.